RECEIVED

07-31-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2017AP587-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY S. TAYLOR,

Defendant-Appellant.

On a Notice of Appeal From a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court for Dane County, the Honorable Stephen E. Ehlke, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KARA L. MELE Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081358

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-2124 melek@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Is the use of a trained narcotics detection dog to sniff the front door of an apartment for the purpose of gathering incriminating evidence from inside the apartment a search under the Fourth Amendment?

The circuit court did not answer this question.

II. Was the ensuing consent to search the apartment voluntary under the circumstances?

The circuit court determined that the police obtained voluntary consent to search the apartment following the dog sniff.

III. If an unreasonable search occurred under the Fourth Amendment, and if the ensuing consent to search was voluntary, did the state meet its burden to show a sufficient break in the causal chain between the illegality and the seizure of evidence?

The circuit court did not answer this question because the state failed to raise it.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested but is welcomed if the court would find it helpful in resolving this case. Because this case is to be decided by a single judge, publication is not warranted. Wis. Stat. Rule § 809.23(1)(b)4.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Without a warrant, exigent circumstances, or consent, the police used a trained narcotics detection dog to sniff the front door of Shataqua Moore's apartment. According to the police, the dog alerted. Thereafter, Ms. Moore (who initially refused consent to search her apartment) signed a consent form. She consented because she saw the dog alert and was told that her consent would forego the lengthy process of getting a warrant. At the time, Ms. Moore's four-year-old son was alone inside the apartment, and Ms. Moore could not enter the premises without a police escort. The circuit court held that even if the dog sniff was unlawful, it did not negate Ms. Moore's consent to search. By virtue of his status as an overnight guest at Ms. Moore's apartment, Mr. Taylor challenges the denial of his motion to suppress.

The dispatch

On December 21, 2015, at approximately 6:41 p.m., the police responded to a call about a physical fight in progress at an apartment complex in Madison. (1:2; 48:13). The fight involved Jasmine Crawford, who was Mr. Taylor's ex-girlfriend, and Shataqua Moore, who was Mr. Taylor's current girlfriend. (48:13, 26, 32-34). Ms. Crawford had confronted Ms. Moore and Mr. Taylor in the parking lot and stated that she was going to "beat [Ms. Moore's] ass. . . ." (48:33). Things got physical and Ms. Moore called the police. (48:34-35, 40).

Officer Jonathan Weaver arrived on scene and spoke with Ms. Crawford. (48:13). Ms. Crawford claimed that she saw Mr. Taylor carry a large bag of marijuana into Ms. Moore's apartment. (48:14). She alleged that Mr. Taylor would make trips to Chicago to pick up marijuana and take it back to Madison. (48:14). She claimed to have accompanied

Mr. Taylor on at least one of these occasions. (48:14). She also alleged that Mr. Taylor might be in possession of a firearm. (48:14).

When the police made contact with Ms. Moore, she was standing on the patio outside her apartment. (48:18, 35, 40). Detective Mansavage, who was standing on a sidewalk in the vicinity of Ms. Moore's apartment, claimed to smell marijuana. (48:16, 41). The police asked Ms. Moore for consent to search her apartment and she refused. (48:16, 35). A couple minutes later, Ms. Moore was told that she could not go inside her apartment without a police escort. (48:18, 29, 35-36). At the time, her four-year-old son was alone inside the apartment. (48:36, 43).

The warrantless dog sniff and resulting search

The officers advised Ms. Moore that they were prepared to obtain a search warrant. (48:16). The police summoned a trained narcotics detection dog to the first floor of the apartment complex. (48:16). There were four apartments on the first floor. (48:17). The dog sniffed multiple doors in the hallway and alerted at Ms. Moore's door. (48:16, 29).

The dog sniff occurred in the presence of Ms. Moore, her mother, and brother. (48:38-39, 41-42). After the dog alerted, the police again asked for consent to search. (48:16). Ms. Moore again refused. (48:16). At this time, Ms. Moore's mother tried pressuring her to give consent. (48:22-23, 39). Officer Weaver overheard the conversation. (48:23). He interrupted to tell Ms. Moore that the police would not just leave if she refused consent. (48:23). He also told her that the search warrant process could take as long as three hours. (48:20-21, 39, 45).

Ms. Moore asked whether her consent would speed up the search warrant process. (48:23, 45, 48). Officer Weaver told her that it would. (48:23). Ms. Moore then consented to the search. (48:23-25, 39, 45-47).

Upon searching the apartment, the police found a sixby-eight inch Tupperware container filled with marijuana. (48:27-28). Mr. Taylor was taken into custody. (48:28-29).

The motion to suppress

The state charged Mr. Taylor with one count of possession of THC as a second and subsequent offense. (1:1). Mr. Taylor moved to suppress the evidence found as a result of the dog sniff. (14; 17). Specifically, he argued that the dog sniff constituted an unlawful search under the Fourth Amendment. (14; 17; 48:7-8; 49:3). He also maintained that the ensuing consent was not voluntary. (14; 17; 48:7-8). He further contended that because any voluntary consent was the product of a Fourth Amendment violation, the evidence seized must be suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree. (14; 17; 48:7-8; 49:3). The state opposed the motion by arguing that Ms. Moore voluntarily consented to the search. (19; 48:9; 49:3-4).

At the suppression hearing, Ms. Moore testified that she would not have consented to the search of her apartment had she not seen the dog alert at her door. (48:42). She explained that her mother told her to consent based on the dog's alert and that she ultimately listened to her mother. (48:39, 46-47). Ms. Moore further testified that when she consented, she believed the police were in the process of getting a warrant and that it could take several hours. (48:39). She did not want to wait for hours because her four-year-old son was alone inside the apartment, upset and scared. (48:39).

The circuit court, the Honorable Stephen E. Ehlke, presiding, denied Mr. Taylor's suppression motion. (49:8). The court held that even if the dog sniff was unlawful, it did not negate Ms. Moore's voluntary consent to search the apartment. (49:8; App. 102-06).

After the denial of the suppression motion, Mr. Taylor pleaded guilty to possession of THC. (50:6; App. 101). The circuit court imposed a 60-day jail sentence. (50:9; App. 101).

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

- I. The Police's Use of a Trained Narcotics Detection Dog to Sniff the Front Door of Ms. Moore's Apartment For the Purpose of Gathering Incriminating Evidence From Inside the Apartment Was an Unreasonable Search Under the Fourth Amendment.
 - A. Introduction and standard of review.

In *Florida v. Jardines*, 133 S.Ct. 1409, 1414-18 (2013), the United States Supreme Court held that the officers' use of a drug-sniffing dog on the front porch of Jardines' home, to investigate whether marijuana was being grown from within the home, was a search under the Fourth Amendment. The Court's rationale was property-based: the investigation took place in a constitutionally protected area (the curtilage of the home) and "was accomplished through an unlicensed physical intrusion," namely the use of "a trained police dog to explore the area around the home in hopes of discovering incriminating evidence. . . ." *Florida v. Jardines*, 133 S.Ct. 1409, 1415-16 (2013). In other words, the police committed a trespass on Jardines' property. The Fourth Amendment violation was therefore rooted in a physical

intrusion onto a constitutionally protected area. *Id.* at 1417. The Court left open the question whether the police's investigation also violated Jardines' reasonable expectation of privacy. *Id.*

Since *Jardines*, courts have been left to grapple with the following questions: can a resident of a multiunit dwelling claim curtilage protection where a dog sniff occurs outside of her apartment, and if not, can she claim a violation of her reasonable expectation of privacy? *See* Eric Connon, <u>Growing Jardines: Expanding Protections Against Warrantless Dog Sniffs to Multiunit Dwellings</u>, 67 Case W. Res. L. Rev. 309, 311 (2016). Courts from around the country—most notably, the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit—have relied upon *Jardines*' theory of curtilage to declare a dog sniff outside an apartment door a search under the Fourth Amendment. *E.g.*, *United States v. Hopkins*, 824 F.3d 726, 732-33 (8th Cir. 2016).

And recently, in *United States v. Whitaker*, 820 F.3d 849, 854 (7th Cir. 2016), the Seventh Circuit held that the use of a drug-sniffing dog to search the front door of an apartment for the purpose of gathering incriminating evidence from inside the apartment was a Fourth Amendment search based on privacy grounds. Though *Whitaker* is the most significant decision on the matter since the United States Supreme Court decided *Jardines*, the Seventh Circuit was not the first court to provide a privacy-based rationale for declaring a Fourth Amendment search in this context. *See United States v. Thomas*, 757 F.2d 1359, 1366-67 (2d Cir. 1985).

Wisconsin has yet to weigh in on these significant constitutional issues. Mr. Taylor argues that the warrantless dog sniff of the apartment in this case constituted a Fourth Amendment violation, either as a trespass or as an intrusion of his reasonable expectation of privacy, as both tests are viable methods for establishing Fourth Amendment protection. *State v. Popp*, 2014 WI App 100, ¶¶18-19, 357 Wis. 2d 696, 855 N.W.2d 471.

Whether police conduct violated the Fourth Amendment is a question of constitutional fact subject to a two-step standard of review. *State v. Dumstrey*, 2016 WI 3, ¶12, 366 Wis. 2d 64, 873 N.W.2d 502. This court upholds a circuit court's findings of historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.*, ¶13. It then independently reviews whether the facts meet the constitutional standard of reasonableness. *Id.*

B. The dog sniff of Ms. Moore's apartment constituted a Fourth Amendment search under the property-based rationale of *Jardines*.

i. Jardines

In *Jardines*, the police received an unverified tip that marijuana was being grown inside Jardines' home. *Jardines*, 133 S.Ct. at 1413. Officers went to the home with a trained narcotics detection dog to investigate the tip. *Id*. The dog sniffed the front porch and base of the front door and alerted. *Id*. The police then obtained a warrant and searched Jardines' home, which turned up marijuana plants. *Id*.

The United States Supreme Court took the case to decide whether the police's behavior constituted a Fourth Amendment search. *Id.* at 1414. The Court began its analysis by noting that there are two methods for establishing a Fourth

¹ At the circuit court, the state conceded that Mr. Taylor could claim Fourth Amendment protection by virtue of his status as an overnight guest at Ms. Moore's apartment under *Minnesota v. Carter*, 525 U.S. 83, 90 (1998). (48:5-6).

Amendment violation: a property-based test, where a search results from a physical trespass, and a privacy-based test, where a search occurs in an area where a person holds a reasonable expectation of privacy. *Id*.

The Court chose to apply the property-based test and its analysis proceeded in two parts. First, it considered whether the investigation took place in a constitutionally protected area. *Id.* at 1414-15. This was an easy question for the Court because the front porch is a classic example of curtilage—the area immediately surrounding and associated with the home that enjoys Fourth Amendment protection as part of the home itself. *Id.*

Second, the Court considered whether the investigation constituted a trespass of the curtilage of Jardines' home. *Id.* at 1415-16. Since members of the general public (including the police) have an implied license to enter the curtilage of a person's home for the purpose of visiting the home, the inquiry turned on whether the police's investigation exceeded that social courtesy. *Id.* at 1415-16. The Court concluded that it did: there is no customary invitation to snoop about the area surrounding a person's home with the intention of finding incriminating evidence. *Id.* at 1416. The Court further explained:

To find a visitor knocking on the door is routine (even if sometimes unwelcome); to spot that same visitor exploring the front path with a metal detector, or marching his bloodhound into the garden before saying hello and asking permission, would inspire most of us to—well, call the police. The scope of a license—express or implied—is limited not only to a particular area but also to a specific purpose. Consent at a traffic stop to an officer's checking out an anonymous tip that there is a body in the trunk does not permit the officer to

rummage through the trunk for narcotics. Here, the background social norms that invite a visitor to the front door do not invite him there to conduct a search.

Id.

As the "officers learned what they learned only by physically intruding on Jardines' property to gather evidence," the Court held that a Fourth Amendment search had occurred. *Id.* at 1417.

ii. Post-Jardines

Since *Jardines*, courts have been confronted with the question whether the curtilage conception provides Fourth Amendment protection to an apartment dweller where a warrantless dog sniff occurs at his or her front door. *See* Connon, 67 Case W. Res. L. Rev. at 312-319; *see also* Kathryn E. Fifield, Let This Jardines Grow: The Case for Curtilage Protection in Common Spaces, 2017 Wis. L. Rev. 147, 169-171. In those cases where courts have found Fourth Amendment protection in this context, the dog sniff occurred at the threshold of the home as opposed to an area beyond the threshold, typically referred to as a "common area" of a multiunit dwelling.

For example, in *Hopkins*, the dog sniff took place at the creases of the front door to Hopkins' rented townhome. *Hopkins*, 824 F.3d at 731. In determining whether the area immediately in front of Hopkins' door was curtilage, the court applied the four-factor curtilage test set forth in *United States v. Dunn*, 480 U.S. 294, 301 (1987). *Id*. That test examines: (1) the proximity of the area claimed to be curtilage to the home; (2) whether the area is included within an enclosure surrounding the home; (3) the nature of the uses to which the area is put; and (4) the steps taken by the resident to protect the area from observation by people

passing by. *Id*. The court held that the proximity of the area investigated to Hopkins' home strongly supported a finding of curtilage. *Id*. at 732. This made up for the fact that the front door was not enclosed by a fence or wall and was visible to the public. *Id*.

Though it principally relied on the *Dunn* factors to support its decision, the *Hopkins* court also reasoned that the space immediately in front of Hopkins' townhome was easily understood as curtilage based on our daily experience. *Id.* (citations omitted). This more simplistic analysis is consistent with *Jardines*, where the United States Supreme Court did not reference the *Dunn* factors in reaching its curtilage determination.

The Illinois Supreme Court recently reached a similar result. See People v. Burns, 50 N.E.3d 610 (Ill. 2016). Like Hopkins, the dog sniff in Burns took place outside Burns' apartment door. Id. at 614. In holding that the landing immediately outside of Burns' front door was curtilage, the court applied the Dunn factors. Id. at 620. As in Hopkins, the court reasoned that the proximity of the landing to the apartment strongly supported a finding of curtilage. Id. It further found that the remaining factors weighed in Burns' favor, particularly because the apartment was located in a locked structure. Id. at 620-21. That the apartment was in a locked building also contributed to the court's conclusion that the landing was easily understood as curtilage under Jardines. Id. at 621.

The highest criminal court in Texas has employed a comparable analysis to that of *Hopkins* and *Burns* in the wake of *Jardines*. *See State v. Rendon*, 477 S.W.2d 805 (Tex. Crim. App. 2015). In *Rendon*, the dog sniff occurred at the front door of Rendon's apartment, which was located in a semi-private upstairs landing. *Id*. at 806-07. In holding that

the area sniffed was curtilage, the court simply reasoned that the threshold of the home is "intimately linked to the home, both physically and psychologically. . . ." *Id.* at 810 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). This basic approach mirrored that of *Jardines*: an application of the *Dunn* factors is unnecessary where the curtilage question is easily understood from our daily experience. *See Id.* at 809-10.

iii. The instant case

The police in this case physically occupied private property in order to secure incriminating evidence and therefore conducted a Fourth Amendment search under *Jardines*. As in *Jardines* and the cases mentioned above, the dog sniff occurred at the entrance to Ms. Moore's home. Whether analyzed under the basic approach set forth in *Jardines* or with reference to the *Dunn* factors, the area at issue was constitutionally protected as curtilage. Since the dog sniff exceeded the implied license that any member of the public would have to approach Ms. Moore's home, a Fourth Amendment search took place.

That the investigation producing incriminating evidence in this case occurred at the front door threshold to Ms. Moore's apartment makes this case as straightforward as *Jardines*. Like the front porch in *Jardines*, the front door threshold to Ms. Moore's apartment (located in a hallway that serves only four apartments) is easily understood as an area "immediately surrounding and associated with the home" *Jardines*, 133 S.Ct. at 1414 (quoting *Oliver v. United States*, 466 U.S. 170, 180 (1984)). Indeed, the police could not have gotten any closer to Ms. Moore's apartment without being inside the apartment itself.

Interpreting the front door threshold to Ms. Moore's apartment as a common area shared by other apartment dwellers would be unreasonable in light of our daily experience. There is no question that apartment dwellers and their invitees have free range to use the shared hallway—or lobby or parking lot—of a multiunit complex to go about their daily business. But the front door threshold to an apartment in a multiunit complex is *not* an area that is used by all apartment dwellers and their invitees. Whereas it might be common for a tenant to relax in the lobby of his apartment building, it would be uncommon (and unwelcomed) for him to camp out immediately in front of another tenant's unit. In fact, it would give the tenant who is subjected to that intrusion a reason to call the police, just as a homeowner would if he spotted a visitor exploring his front path with a metal detector. See id. at 1416.² That is because the area in question is "intimately linked to the home, both physically and psychologically,' and is where 'privacy expectations are most heightened." Jardines, 133 S.Ct. at 1415 (quoting California v. Ciraolo, 476 U.S. 207, 213 (1986)). The basic approach set forth in *Jardines* therefore supports a finding of curtilage in this matter.

Application of the *Dunn* factors to the facts of this case yields the same result. As in *Hopkins* and *Burns*, the first *Dunn* factor—the proximity of the area searched to the home—strongly supports a finding of curtilage. As discussed, the testimony was that the dog sniff occurred at Ms. Moore's apartment door. The police could not have gotten any closer without being inside the apartment. *Compare with Dumstrey*,

² See Carrie Leonetti, <u>Open Fields in the Inner City: Application of the Curtilage Doctrine to Urban and Suburban Areas</u>, 15 GEO. MASON U. C.R. L.J. 297, 317 (2005) (noting that apartment dwellers have a collective right to exclude all individuals that do not have a legitimate purpose on the premises).

366 Wis. 2d 64, ¶¶34-35 (parking garage located beneath multiunit complex not closely proximate to defendant's apartment because it was not attached to the home itself).

The second *Dunn* factor—whether the area is included within an enclosure surrounding the home—also weighs in favor of finding curtilage. The front door threshold to Ms. Moore's apartment was located within a multiunit complex. *Compare with Dumstrey*, 366 Wis. 2d 64, ¶¶38-39 (parking garage not included within the overall enclosure that encompasses the entire apartment building).

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