RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 09-29-2017 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV CLERK OF COU

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 17AP587-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

ANTHONY S TAYLOR,

Defendant-Appellant.

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY, BRANCH #15, THE HONORABLE JUDGE STEPHEN EHLKE, PRESIDING

Adrienne E. Blais
Assistant District Attorney
Dane County, Wisconsin
Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent
State Bar No. 1085018

215 South Hamilton Street
Dane County Courthouse, Room 3000
Madison, WI 53703
Telephone: (608)266-4211

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

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

When reviewing the circuit court's denial of a motion to suppress evidence, this Court will uphold the circuit court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous, but reviews its application of the facts to constitutional principles de novo. See State v. Stout, 2002 WI App 41, ¶9, 250 Wis. 2d 768, 641 N.W.2d 474.

II. THE POLICE'S USE OF A DOG TO SNIFF MOORE'S APARTMENT DOOR WAS NOT AN UNREASONABLE SEARCH UNDER THE FOURTH AMENDMENT.

A. No Trespass Occurred Under Florida v. Jardines.

A warrantless dog sniff is not per se unreasonable. Illinois v. Caballes, 543 U.S. 405 (2005), Caballes, United States v. Place, 462 U.S. 696 (1983). In Caballes, the United States Supreme upheld a dog sniff of a stopped car, finding it to be a minimally intrusive warrantless search. 543 U.S. at 410. The Court based its finding on the fact that the car had already been legally seized during a traffic stop. Id. at 409. The sniff was not unreasonable because the police were not somewhere they were not allowed

to be, were not seizing a vehicle they could not legally seize, and they were not intruding into something they were not allowed to intrude upon.

This is consistent with the Court's property-based, trespass-inspired rationale in Florida v. Jardines, U.S. __, 133 S. Ct. 1409 (2013). In that case, the Court warrantless dog sniff conducted on found that а standalone house's front door was an unreasonable search. 133 S. Ct. at 1417-18. The Court followed its rationale from United States v. Jones, which explained that physical police intrusion on persons, houses, papers, or effects for the purpose of obtaining information, constituted a Fourth Amendment search. 565 U.S. __, 132 S.Ct. 945, 950-51, n. 3 (2012). The Court found the area occupied by the dog during the sniff to be curtilage and the dog's presence in the curtilage, for the purpose of sniffing, to be an intrusion. Jardines, 133 S. Ct. 1414-17. While а doorbell or doorknocker is implicit license to an the public approach the front door of the home to deliver mail or sell something, that license is not limitless. Id. at 1415-16. "This implicit license typically permits the visitor to approach the home by the front path, knock promptly, wait briefly to be received, and then (absent invitation to

linger longer) leave." Id. at 1415. Likewise, this license does not extend to visitors with more intrusive intents, such as those "exploring the front path with a metal detector." Id. at 1416. The Court concluded that bringing a police dog into the home's curtilage to sniff for incriminating evidence concealed within the home was a trespass and therefore an unreasonable search. Id. at 1417-18.

A finding of an unreasonable search in the present case is not appropriate under Jardines, because Jardines and the present case are not factually similar. The primary difference between them is that in Jardines, the police were not explicitly invited to the home and police did not inform the homeowner of the purpose of their investigation, whereas in the present case, the police were invited to the scene by Moore, and by the time the dog sniffed, Moore knew police smelled marijuana and wanted to search her apartment. Moore called police following the altercation with Crawford. She invited them to her apartment hallway. She requested their services. She herself expanded the license to include police questioning and investigating. Furthermore, Moore was informed that police marijuana and wished to search her apartment. She did not respond in any way to the sniff. She was able to observe the police expanding upon the license with a dog, and voiced no objection to the sniff. While Jardines aptly observed that license to approach a home does not extend to visitors exploring a front path with a metal detector, the same cannot be said about a visitor, invited to a front path by a homeowner, who informs that homeowner of his wish to search for metal on that path, who then proceeds to scan for metal faced with no objection by the homeowner.

B. The Dog Did Not Discover Anything Previously Unknown to Police.

In United States v. Whitaker, the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals held that a warrantless dog sniff of an apartment hallway was an unreasonable search under the Fourth Amendment. 820 F.3d 849 (7th Cir. 2016). Rather than basing the holding on trespass and implicit license grounds, the Seventh Circuit instead relied on privacy rights grounds, adopting Supreme Court Justice Kagan's noncontrolling concurrence from Jardines. Id That concurrence was based on the Court's holding in Kyllo v. United States (Noteworthy is the fact that the late Justice Antonin Scalia authored both majority opinions in Kyllo

Jardines, and in writing Jardines, deliberately refused to extend his Kyllo privacy rights holding to Jardines. 569 U.S. __, 133 S. Ct. at 1417.) 569 U.S. __, 133 S. Ct. at 1419-20 (Kagan, J., concurring). In Kyllo, the United States Supreme Court held that government use of a thermal imaging device on a house, without a search warrant, is a violation of privacy rights and constitutes an unreasonable Fourth Amendment search. 533 U.S. 27, 40 (2001).

First, it bears noting, that Whitaker is not binding precedent on Wisconsin state courts. However, even Whitaker is considered particularly persuasive authority, it still does not demand that the evidence in the present case be excluded on the basis of an unreasonable search. All Whitaker, Jardines three cases (Kaqan, concurring), and Kyllo - were based on the fact that police were not able to sense the heat or smell the drugs within the house. Whitaker and Justice Kagan's concurrence in Jardines both specifically quoted Kyllo's holding that where "the Government uses a device that is not in general public use, to explore details of the home that would previously have been unknowable without physical intrusion, surveillance is a 'search' and is presumptively unreasonable without a warrant." Whitaker, 820 F.3d at 853;

and Jardines, 569 U.S. __, 133 S. Ct. at 1419 (Kagan, J., concurring); quoting Kyllo, 533 U.S. at 40 (emphasis added).

In this case, the odor of marijuana emanating from Moore's apartment was already known to police. At least one officer, Detective Mansavage, and possibly two, Officer Knoeck as well, were able to smell the odor of marijuana coming from Moore's apartment. This occurred not only before Detective Mansavage left to begin drafting a search warrant, but also before a dog was even summoned to the scene. (This admittedly begs the question, if police could already smell marijuana, why summon a dog? The record does not answer this question.) Moore was even herself aware that police had smelled marijuana coming from her apartment before the dog arrived; she heard an officer say as much, and she was presented with that information by Officer Weaver when he asked if she would consent to a search of her apartment. Because the police already smelled marijuana coming from Moore's apartment, the dog's sniff did not explore previously unknown details.

III. EVEN IF THE DOG SNIFF WAS AN UNREASONABLE SEARCH, THE EVIDENCE OBTAINED IS ADMISSIBLE UNDER THE INDEPENDENT SOURCE DOCTRINE.

independent Under the source doctrine, "'challenged evidence has an independent source, exclusion of such evidence would put the police in a worse position than they would have been in absent any error violation.'" Murray v. United States, 487 U.S. 533, (1988) (quoting Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431, 443, (1984)). Applied to circumstances where a search warrant contains both tainted and untainted evidence, the issued warrant is valid if the untainted evidence is sufficient to support a finding of probable cause to issue the warrant. See id. at 542; State v. O'Brien, 70 Wis.2d 414, 424, 234 N.W.2d 362 (1975). Courts are to follow a two-pronged test in determining whether lawfully obtained evidence provides an independent source for issuance of a search warrant. First, the court determines whether the officer would have sought the search warrant without the unreasonable search; and second, it determines if information illegally acquired influenced the magistrate's decision to authorize the

warrant. State v. Lange, 158 Wis.2d 609, 626, 463 N.W.2d 390 (Ct.App.1990).

To the first prong, the record is clear that the officers in fact began the search warrant process before the dog even arrived at Moore's apartment. Once the officers learned about Taylor's marijuana dealing and recent possession, as well as his possession of a firearm as a convicted felon, and observed the odor of marijuana coming from Moore's apartment, they wanted to search that apartment. They asked for consent, but were denied, so they decided to go about getting a warrant. Only after that did the dog enter the picture.

To the second prong, it is admittedly speculative to consider what information would have influenced a judge's decision whether or not to authorize a warrant in this case. That is precisely what the Appellant is attempting to do, however. He speculates that a search warrant would have been issued solely based on the dog's alert, that that warrant would have been invalidated under Whitaker and Jardines, and that all evidence seized from the warrant would have been excluded. Putting aside the dog's alert, there was still sufficient probable cause to support a search warrant. Crawford had provided information that

Taylor trafficked marijuana from Chicago to Madison, and that she had accompanied Taylor on at least one such trip. Crawford had provided information that she had observed Taylor with a large bag of marijuana that very day. Crawford had provided information that Taylor was possibly in possession of a firearm on account of having been recently robbed. Crawford's information was corroborated by Officer Weaver's independent knowledge of Taylor having been recently robbed, and officers' observation of the odor of marijuana emanating from Moore's apartment.

Officer Weaver's observation of the odor of marijuana while within Moore's apartment is another independent source. Once officers decided to apply for a search residence, they secured the seizing prohibiting anyone from entering it without a police escort. Securing a residence in this way is lawful under Illinois v. McArther, as long as police have probable cause to so seize the residence. 531 U.S. 326 (2001). Based on the above-described information, the State submits that the police in this case had such probable cause. Moore decided she wanted to enter her apartment to check on her son and collect some personal belongings, so she chose to accept Officer Weaver's escort and allowed him to enter

apartment with her. Officer Weaver then, with Moore's consent to be in her apartment, smelled marijuana coming from her bedroom and the living area. Based on the police's lawful seizure of the apartment and Moore's consent to Officer Weaver accompanying her, his observation of the odor of marijuana provides an additional, lawful source of the odor of marijuana within the apartment, independent of the dog sniff.

IV. EVEN IF THIS COURT FINDS THE DOG SNIFF TO BE AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL SEARCH, MOORE'S CONSENT SHOULD NEVERTHELESS BE UPHELD AS VOLUNTARY AND SUFFICIENTLY ATTENUATED FROM THE DOG SNIFF.

A. Moore's Consent Was Voluntary.

The Fourth Amendment to the United State Constitution protects against unreasonable searches. U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. art. I, § 11. Warrantless searches are per se unreasonable except for a few limited exceptions. State v. Faust, 2004 WI 99, ¶ 11, 274 Wis.2d 183, 682 N.W.2d 371. "One well-established exception to the warrant requirement is a search conducted pursuant to consent." State v. Artic,

2010 WI 83, ¶ 29, 327 Wis. 2d 392, 786 N.W.2d 430. The State bears the burden of showing by clear and convincing evidence that the police did in fact obtain consent. State v. Sobczak, 2013 WI 53, ¶ 11, 347 Wis. 2d 724, 833 N.W.2d 59.

In analyzing consent, courts review whether consent was given in fact and then whether that consent was voluntary. Artic, 2010 WI at ¶ 30. Whether consent was given in fact is a question of historical fact which will be upheld as long as it is not against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence in the record. Id. Whether consent was voluntary is a mixed question of law and fact. Id. ¶ 32.

1. Consent was given in fact.

There is no doubt that consent was given in fact. Moore signed a consent to search form. (Exh. 1). Both Officer Weaver and Moore testified to this fact. (MHT 24:21-25:7; 46:2-8).

2. Consent was given voluntarily.

The State bears the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that consent was given freely and

voluntarily. Artic, 2010 WI at ¶ 32. Consent given voluntarily must be must be "an essentially free and unconstrained choice," and not "the product of duress or coercion, express or implied," Schneckcloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 225, 227 (1973). This determination is made based on the totality of the circumstances. Id. at 226. No single criterion will control that determination. See Id.

Courts consider multiple non-exclusive factors determine whether consent was given voluntarily: (1)whether the police used deception, trickery, or misrepresentation in their dialogue with the defendant to persuade him to consent; (2) whether the police threatened or physically intimidated the defendant or "punished" him by the deprivation of something like food or sleep; (3) whether the conditions attending the request to search were congenial, non-threatening, and cooperative, orthe opposite; (4) how the defendant responded to the request to search; (5) what characteristics the defendant had as to age, intelligence, education, physical and emotional condition, and prior experience with the police; and (6) whether the police informed the defendant that he could refuse consent. Artic, 2010 WI at 33.

(1) Whether officers used any deception, trickery, or misrepresentation in obtaining consent.

In finding consent to have been voluntarily given, the Wisconsin Supreme Court in State v. Phillips, focused on the honesty and openness of the officers requesting consent. 218 Wis.2d 180, 198-99, 577 N.W.2d 794 (1998). The court noted that the officers "disclosed to the defendant almost all of the information they possessed concerning their interest in his home," informed the defendant that they did not have a warrant, described their purposes for being in the home, and did not "mask their identities or misrepresent the purpose for being at the defendant's home." Id.

The court in Artic made similar findings. 2010 WI at ¶ 36. The officers were forthright about their identities and their reasons for being in the house. Id. They asked Artic for consent to search only after explaining that officers arrested his son with a large quantity of cocaine after seeing him enter and leave the residence. Id. Law enforcement also made clear to Artic that they did not have a search warrant. Id.

In this case, as in Phillips and Artic, the police were open and honest about the investigation with Moore. They were clearly identifiable as police officers. They confronted Moore with the fact that they smelled marijuana coming from the apartment. They never pretended to have a warrant and were honest in telling Moore they wanted to search her apartment. There is nothing in the record to officers used deception, trickery, the misrepresentation in obtaining consent to search from Moore. Significantly, it was Moore who brought up consent with police after speaking with her mother. When Moore ultimately decided to consent, it was not in response to a request by police, rather, it was after she thought about it and then reinitiated the topic with police. Therefore, this factor weighs in favor of voluntary consent.

(2) Whether officers threatened, intimidated, or in any way "punished" Moore.

In *Phillips*, the court focused on the fact that there was no credible evidence that the police threatened, physically intimidated, or punished the defendant. 218 Wis. 2d 180, 199-200. In doing so, the court noted all the things the police did not do to the defendant:

- The police did not physically subdue or restrain the defendant.
- The police did not brandish their weapons.
- The police did not place the defendant in handcuffs.
- The police did not take the defendant into custody.
- The police did not remove the defendant from the premises.
- The police did not arrest the defendant.
- The police did not deprive the defendant of any necessities.
- The police did not prolong the encounter to wear down the defendant's resistance.
- The police did not employ any coercive interrogation tactics on the defendant.

Id.

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